THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

WCC File No. 1708221

Appellate Case No. 2019-000556

RECEIVED
AUG 02 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Isaac D. Brailey, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Michelin North America, Inc., (US7), Employer,
and Safety National Casualty Corp., Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000
stephen@samuelslawfirm.net

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in finding that Isaac Brailey failed to meet his burden of proof that he suffered an compensable injury by accident arising out of his employer.
2. Whether the Appellate Panel erred as a matter of fact and law in finding Michelin proved the elements of the Cooper v. McDevitt and Street defense, as Brailey did not make a knowledgeable, wilfull and material misrepresentation on his application for employment; that Employer relied on the physical examination clearing Brailey for work (confirmed later by Dr. Izard); and there is no evidence of a causal connection between any alleged misrepresentation and the ultimate work-related injury.
3. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in finding this claim was barred by Capers v. Flautt when no factual findings were made to support such a defense and when the defense does not apply to this case in that there was no evidence that Claimant knew or could have known with certainty that he would injure his back at Michelin.
4. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in finding as a matter of law that this claim was barred by Section 42-9-60 when no factual findings were made to support such a defense and there is no evidence that Brailey intentionally and willfully caused injury to himself by continuing to work full duty when no doctor put him under work restrictions until his accident on June 24, 2017.
5. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in finding Brailey was not a credible witness as such finding is not supported by substantial evidence; and even if it where, such a finding is insufficient to support a denial of the claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal from the Workers' Compensation Commission arises out of job-related injuries suffered by the Appellant, Isaac Brailey, on June 24, 2017. Brailey's Employer, Michelin, denied his claim on July 13, 2017. [APA page 81].

Brailey filed a Form 50 (Notice of Hearing) on October 4, 2017, alleging he suffered an injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Michelin on June 24, 2017. Brailey sought medical treatment and temporary total disability compensation. [Form 50].

Michelin and its insurance carrier, Safety National Casualty Corporation, timely filed a Form 51 (Employer's Answer to Request for Hearing), on November 3, 2017. Michelin asserted a general denial of all allegations asserting "Claim under investigation." Michelin also pled all affirmative defenses available under Title 42 and common law. [Form 51].

The case was set for a hearing on September 26, 2017. Respondents moved for multiple continuances, resulting in the hearing being reset for December 14, 2017; January 31, 2018; February 5, 2018; and February 28, 2018. The case was tried before on March 23, 2018.

Commissioner Avery Wilkerson issued a Decision and Order denying the claim on November 8, 2017. In his Order, he held:

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that claimant failed to prove he sustained a compensable injury to his back of [sic] left leg on June 24, 2017. Moreover, even if he had met his burden of proof, his claim would be barred by *Capers v. Flautt*, §42-9-60, and the fraud in the application for employment defense. [SC Order, page 22].

Appellant timely filed his Form 30 (Notice of Appeal) to the Full Commission. Oral arguments were heard on October 22, 2018. The Appellate Panel issued a Decision and Order on February 27, 2019 affirming with amendments on February 28, 2019. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal from a Form 50 hearing in a denied case. Isaac Brailey, the employee in this workers compensation case, is 51 years old. Brailey was employed as a production worker at Michelin. Brailey sustained a work related injury to his back on June 24, 2017. The Commission denied his claim for the reasons set forth in the Argument section of this brief.

Approximately twenty years earlier, Brailey had worked for Richtex Brick for about three weeks. On approximately December 4, 1997, Brailey felt pain in “the middle of the back . . . just below the ribs.” [Tr. Page 40, line 25-page 41, line 11]. Brailey no longer has pain in this area of the back. He currently has pain “on my left side . . . above my hip or right at my hip” resulting from his June 24, 2017 work accident at Michelin. [Tr. Page 41, line 12-page 42, line 4].

In 1997, Brailey went to two doctor’s visits with the Richtex company doctor, Dr. Thomas Norris. Brailey’s employer was “very cooperative. I went to physical therapy, you know, they said it might have a – a muscle strain; I don’t know but they – I went to physical therapy and non-restriction on certain things.” [Tr. Page 42, lines 5-12].

Brailey saw Dr. Norris on December 4th and 11th, 1997. X-rays were “essentially normal . . .” He was improving with therapy. Consistent with his hearing testimony, Dr. Norris confirmed “He reports the pain is in the middle of his back . . .” He noted no symptoms of weakness or tingling in either extremity. Dr. Norris diagnosed Brailey with lumbar and thoracic strain. Dr. Norris – plainly believing that Brailey had suffered no serious injury referred him to Dr. Bethea (an orthopaedic surgeon) who “would certainly put this to rest most expediently . . .” He stated “I will place him on no heavy lifting until he sees the surgeon.” [Defendants’ APA pages 1-2].

Brailey never saw Dr. Bethea. He settled his claim on a clincher (full and final release) for

a nominal sum (\$2,500.00) in June 1998. [Claimant's APA page 95].

For the next twenty years, Brailey had no problems with his back and no workers' compensation claims. Brailey worked as a quality control technician for Westinghouse for 16 years, until he was laid off in a reduction in force in March 2016. During his time at Westinghouse, Brailey had to lift pellets and containers, work with pipe wrenches, and push carts weighing 6-700 pounds. He had no back injuries at Westinghouse and was able to pass a physical examination every year he was there. [Page 45, line 1-page 46, line 17].

Brailey worked briefly as a correctional officer for the Department of Juvenile Justice before joining Michelin in April 2017. He had long hoped to join Michelin and stay there until retirement.

As part of the hiring process, Michelin required employees to undergo a physical examination by a company doctor before beginning work. When Brailey filled out his health questionnaire for Michelin on March 2, 1997, he admittedly did not disclose his previous back strain from 20 years before.¹ [Tr. Page 52, line 17–page 54, line 21; Defendants APA page 16]. Brailey was given a complete physical exam by Dr. Tomarchio and cleared for work with Michelin. Brailey testified the physical examination was thorough, including examining his ability to turn, bend, lift and squat. He experienced no pain during the examination. [Tr. Page 256, line 15-page 258, line 1, Ex. C-1].

Other Michelin employees who had undergone the post-offer physical confirmed the examination was thorough. Jermaine Lemon, Brailey's trainer, confirmed that even though he had no previous problem with his back, the company doctor still examined his back to make sure he

¹Brailey also left off his address, phone number, emergency contacts and family doctor. This would be consistent with his testimony that they hurried him through the process and he "just filled it out as quickly as possible." [Defendants APA page 16; Tr. Page 52, lines 6-12].

“could twist, turn, bend, stoop, lift without any problems.”² [Tr. Page 315, line 23-page 316, line 20].

Mark Gross, Michelin’s Safety Manager testified that once Dr. Tomarchio cleared Brailey for full unrestricted duty, Michelin had what they needed to know and Brailey was good to go. [Tr. Page 410, lines 14-22].

Brailey started working for Michelin on April 17, 2017. The work was strenuous and, as expected, caused body aches – eventually including back pain. Brailey was told aches and pains were a normal part of getting used to the job. [Tr. Page 61, line 23-page 62, line 5]. His trainer, Jermaine Lemon, confirmed he would have expected Brailey to have some pain with being new on the job. [Tr. Page 296, lines 1-2]. Troy Lowman, Michelin’s Training Manager, also testified the job “requires lifting, pulling and stretching” and that pain for new employees is “a normal, expected, thing.” [Tr. Page 340, 1-11]. Gross testified he would expect new employees to have “soreness” because “it’s hard work and they’re not used to it.” His concern was ensuring it was pain from working a new job rather than an injury. [Tr. Page 410, line 25-page 413, line 1].

After working on the job for almost two months, Brailey decided he needed to be checked out by a doctor for back pain that had been going on for about a week. On June 11, 2017, Brailey went to Urgent Care. He reported “low back pain particularly in the left lumbar paraspinal region for the past several days. Patient was doing some heavy lifting at work prior to the onset of pain. He

²Michelin’s other three witnesses knew nothing about the examination. Plant nurse Christy Sirois “assumed it was thorough,” but had no first hand knowledge.” [Tr. Page 378, lines 3-5]. Even though he is a Training Manager who presumably would have undergone a similar physical exam when he was hired, Troy Lowman testified he was “not familiar at all with the physical examinations and the questionnaires . . .” [Tr. Page 339, lines 13-18]. Mark Gross, the Safety Manager, agreed Michelin wanted to be sure the doctors do a thorough exam, but testified “Personally, I’m not aware of exactly what the physical exam is, so, I can’t tell you how thorough it is.” [Tr. Page 409, lines 7-17].

denied any history of prior back aches. [sic] No direct trauma. No incontinence or radiation.” [APA pages 13-15]. Brailey was given a muscle relaxer and pain medication. He was not placed under any work restrictions.

Two days later, on June 13, 2017, Brailey went to Dr. Marom, his family doctor, reporting “left lower back pains for the past 2 weeks.³ Has had new job at Michelin, moving heavy stuff – there now for about past 2 weeks. Pain is 10/10 with certain movements. . . . no radiation into legs.” [APA page 7]. Dr. Marom diagnoses “acute low back . . . no radicular signs/symptoms . . . discussed likely strained muscles due to heavier work load at new job.” [APA page 11].

Brailey continued to work for Michelin with no additional issues for the next 11 days. On Saturday June 24, 2017, he was working in the early morning “stretching the rubber on tires” when he felt a sudden sharp pain in his back. He reported the issue to Jermaine who told him “yeah, I know that hurt you.” [Tr. Page 71, line 3-page 72, line 5]. At the end of the shift, Brailey went to the nurses station. He discovered it was not open during third shift weekends, so he went to the emergency room at Lexington Medical Center, arriving shortly after 9:00 am. [Tr. Page 72, lines 6-16].

At the emergency room, Brailey reported “lower back pain to left side since he was working last night, states does a lot of lifting/pulling and started hurting then.” [APA page 16]. Brailey was given medication and – unlike his previous two doctor visits – taken out of work for three days.⁴ He

³This was the first time Brailey ever reported back pain to Dr. Marom. Previous records dating from before he started working at Michelin show no history of back pain. [Claimant’s APA pages 1-5].

⁴The fact no doctors put Brailey under work restrictions until after the June 24, 2017 work accident is a critical fact in this case. Troy Lowman testified “If the pain is affecting their life *and they can’t work* – they can’t function properly; yes I’d want them to report an accident.” [Tr.

was also referred to a neurosurgeon at Lexington Brain and Spine. [APA page 25].

Brailey called his training supervisor, Troy Lowman, from the emergency room. He told Lowman “he thought he hurt [his back] at work.” [Tr. Page 333, line 14–page 334, line 4]. Lowman testified he explained to Brailey how he should have reported the accident to the Health Center and Plant Nurse. When Brailey told him he done so and both were closed, he told Brailey he should have reported to Security. He and Brailey then discussed how to file a workers’ compensation claim. [TR. Page 334, line 24–page 335, line 10].

After speaking with Brailey, Lowman contacted the plant nurse, Christie Sirois. Sirois called Brailey. He told her “he was seen in the ER for lower left back pain that started on 6/24/17 while stretching and pulling rubber.” Sirois told Brailey not to take the medication prescribed by the emergency room and set him up to see the company doctor, Dr. Izard, on Monday morning. [Claimant’s APA page 88].

On Monday morning, June 26, 2017, Brailey reported to Dr. Izard. On intake, he filled out a pain diagram showing left sided back pain with numbness radiating down his left buttock to just below his knee. [Claimant’s APA page 28]. Dr. Izard documented “pain located in the Upper Leg, left side of back, left leg numbness . . .” [Claimant’s APA page 29]. Dr. Izard recorded:

There seems to be a significant degree of symptom amplification and magnification by the employee. I explained to the employee that at the worst he has a back strain which should require only treatment with NSAIDs and a muscle relaxant. I also explained to him that *he may very well have a urinary tract infection* since he was having difficulty urinating and having pain in the CVA area on the left side. He was advised to discontinue taking Percocet because of the high risk for addiction and the high risk for hyperalgesia related to the Percocet. The employee was also *advised not*

Page 340, lines 12-18 (emphasis added)]. Consistent with Lowman’s testimony, Brailey reported his accident the same day it happened – which was also the first time any doctor wrote him out work.

to follow-up with the neurosurgeon that he will follow-up with me at Michelin medical department on Wednesday, 06/28/2017. [APA page 30 (emphasis added)].

Dr. Izard gave “no work restrictions at this time.” [APA page 32].

Concerned with the contradictory advice and the misdiagnosis of a urinary tract infection, Brailey went back to the emergency room the next day, on June 27, 2017. He stated “he has numbness in his right leg and also states when he coughs it hurts his back.”⁵ He was diagnosed with left sided sciatica, given an injection, oral steroids and Percocet, referred to Lexington Brain and Spine, and taken out of work for another three days. [APA pages 33-42].

The next morning, Brailey called Christie Sirois. He told her he could not see Dr. Izard that day because he did not have a ride. She asked if he is “treating this personally and he stated no that it was work related.” [APA page 88].

On Friday, June 30, 2017, Brailey went to Doctor’s Care. He reported “he was hurt at Michelin. He says the Michelin doc told him to put ice on it and he had no work restrictions. He has muscle spasm, loss of balance. He has been seen twice in the ER for this problem.” Given that he was already on medication from the ER, the doctor had nothing more to offer and “I told he and his wife he needed to see the ortho.” [APA page 45].

Brailey never returned to work at Michelin. Michelin terminated his employment “for not being a good fit during your probationary period” on July 6, 2017. [APA page 83]. Michelin’s carrier formally denied the claim on July 13, 2017. [APA page 81].

⁵The reference to *numbness in his right leg* appears to be a typographical error as Brailey was diagnosed with *left sided sciatica*. When asked about the reference to right leg numbness, Dr. Boyd testified “I believe that could be either a patient reporting error or a physician recording error, as everywhere else in the records at other – it seems to be left-sided.” [Boyd dep. Tr. Page 40, lines 15-18].

On July 24, 2017, Brailey started treatment with a neurosurgeon, Dr. Scott Boyd. He reported the June 24, 2017 injury at Michelin. His “pain has been increasing and is now radiating down his LEFT leg towards the thigh with numbness in the LEFT calf.” An MRI and physical therapy were ordered. [APA pages 52-55]. Brailey also reported to Dr. Boyd that “he hadn’t had previous back problems, except maybe 25 years ago he had an episode that resolved without any treatment.” [Boyd Dep. Tr. Page 10, line 17-page 11, line 6; Claimant’s APA page 58].

The MRI showed a “Left paracental disc extrusion at L4-5 with a large superiorly migrated extruded disc fragment measuring 13 x 12 x 14 mm, which results in complete effacement of the left lateral recess, with contact and likely compression of the transiting nerve roots.” [APA page 56].

Dr. Boyd opined Brailey “needs surgery” and kept him out of work. Brailey wanted to avoid surgery, so physical therapy was provided. [APA page 69].

On November 19, 2017, Dr. Boyd completed a questionnaire in which he provided causation to the work accident to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. [APA page 71].

Dr. Boyd was deposed on January 15, 2018. After reviewing all medical records, he testified:

It sounds like he began having back problems with pain because of increased physical exertion with his new job at Michelin starting in April, got progressively worse to the point that he sought medical attention.

And I think, at some point, somewhere around June 24th, something changed where he began having a slightly different set of symptoms with pain radiating down his left leg in a radicular pattern. [Boyd dep. Tr. Page 43, lines 8-19].

Dr. Boyd added the pain running down his left leg in a radicular pattern “would be consistent with a disk herniation” which is what he found on the MRI. [Boyd dep. Tr. Page 43, line 20-page 44, line 1]. Dr. Boyd opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty “I believe that, more likely than not, he injured his lumbar spine at his employment, including some episode on June 24th.” [Boyd dep.

Tr. page 44, line 15-page 45, line 4]. Dr. Boyd maintained his opinion on causation throughout the deposition. There is no conflicting medical evidence.⁶

As of the hearing, Brailey remained out of work waiting on surgery.

The case was tried before Commissioner Wilkerson on March 23, 2018. By Decision and Order dated July 10, 2018, Commissioner Wilkerson denied the claim. He made various findings, the most important being:

This claim is denied in its entirety based on evidence of numerous issues relating back to 1997 through 2017. The Claimant has failed to carry his burden of proof of an accident being sustained on June 24, 2017, due to his lack of credibility, the lack of sufficient medical evidence to support his allegations, and, moreover, due to medical evidence to the contrary. I find the claimant was unable to return to work after June 24, 2017 due to a separate incident. I find the June 24, 2017, incident is not compensable based upon the greater weight of the evidence and the other reasons stated within this finding. [Order, page 21, Finding of Fact 10].

The Commissioner primarily denied the claim based on finding Respondents proved the affirmative defenses set out in Cooper v. McDevitt & Street Co., 260 S.C. 463, 196 S.E.2d 833 (1973), Capers v. Flautt, 305 S.C. 254, 407 S.E.2d 660 (Ct.App.1991) and S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-60 (2007)(“No compensation shall be payable if the injury . . . was occasioned by the . . . wilful intention of the employee to injure . . . himself . . .”).

The Appellate Panel affirmed with minor modifications.

⁶Respondents moved shortly before the hearing to reconvene the deposition of Dr. Boyd to cross-examine him on the 1997 medical records from Dr. Norris. The motion was denied although Commissioner Wilkerson reserved to hold a final decision until after hearing testimony.. At one point in the hearing Appellant withdrew his previous objection to reconvening the deposition – at which time Respondents announced they were withdrawing the motion. Commissioner Wilkerson accepted the withdrawal and closed the record.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, the appellate court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (2007).

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