THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

WCC File No. 1708221

Court of Appeals Case No. 2019-000556

Isaac Brailey, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

Michelin North America, Inc., (US7), Employer,
and Safety National Casualty Corp., Carrier Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Grady L. Beard
Jasmine D. Smith
Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 929-1400

Attorneys for Respondents

RECEIVED
JAN 30 2020
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The preponderance of the evidence supports the Full Commission finding Appellant vitiated the employer-employee relationship pursuant to Section 42-1-130 of the South Carolina Code Ann. (2015) and *Cooper v. McDevitt & Street Co.*, 260 S.C. 463, 196 S.E.2d 833 (1973), where Appellant repeatedly made informed, willful, and material misrepresentations on his employment documents for Michelin and prior employers; Michelin relied upon his responses on the documents; and the evidence demonstrates a causal connection between the misrepresentations and the alleged injury.**

The relationship of employment is a jurisdictional issue for purposes of workers' compensation benefits. *Chavis v. Watkins*, 256 S.C. 30, 32, 180 S.E.2d 648, 649 (1971). This Court's review of the issue is governed by the preponderance of the evidence. *Givens v. Steel Structures, Inc.*, 279 S.C. 12, 13, 301 S.E.2d 545, 546 (1983). The burden rests on Appellant to show that the Full Commission's decision is against the preponderance of the evidence. *Chavis*, 256 S.C. at 32, 180 S.E.2d at 649.

In order for provisions of the Act to be applicable, Appellant must have been an employee of Michelin as defined in Section 42-1-130 and an employer-employee relationship must have existed. In *Cooper*, our Supreme Court held a false statement in an employment application will vitiate the employer-employee relationship and bar workers' compensation benefits when (1) the

employee knowingly and willfully made a false representation as to his physical condition; (2) the employer relied upon the false representation and the reliance was a substantial factor in the hiring; and (3) there was a causal connection between the false representation and the injury. 260 S.C. at 468, 196 S.E.2d at 835. The preponderance of the evidence shows Michelin proved each element of the Fraud in the Application defense outlined in *Cooper* and supports the Full Commission's findings.

The facts of this case are similar to the facts outlined in *Brayboy*, 383 S.C. at 464, 681 S.E.2d at 567. The claimant in *Brayboy* sustained a back injury in 2003. *Id.* *Brayboy's* employment application included disclaimers similar to those outlined in Appellant's post-hire questionnaire. *Id.* at 464-65, 681 S.E.2d at 567-68. As in the instant case, "[n]otably, *Brayboy* signed his name under these cautionary statements. Despite these warnings, *Brayboy* responded in the negative to all questions inquiring if *Brayboy* had prior back injuries, physical defects, medical conditions, or previous workers' compensation claims." *Id.* at 465, 681 S.E.2d at 568. "*Brayboy* testified he did not report any of his prior injuries to WorkForce as he did not feel the injuries were relevant to a construction job. Also, *Brayboy* stated he did not include the cave-in injury as it had 'cleared up very quickly.'" *Id.* at 466, 681 S.E.2d at 568. Similarly, here, although Appellant executed the declaration and authorization portion of the form, he claims he quickly completed the forms and suggests that because he believed the prior workers' compensation claim was minor and occurred some years prior, Michelin did not need to know that information. Like *Brayboy*, Appellant failed to report his back problems and admitted he provided false information on Michelin's application as well as Westinghouse's employment documents. *Id.* at 467, 681 S.E.2d at 569. Just as our Supreme Court in *Brayboy*, this Court should be "firmly convinced" Michelin established all three factors of *Cooper*. *Id.*

A. The preponderance of the evidence supports finding Appellant knowingly and willfully repeatedly made false misrepresentations.

Appellant concedes in his brief that his responses on the Michelin Questionnaire were “untrue,” but dismisses the false statements because some years have passed and according to him, the prior injury was minor. (**App. Br. 19-20**). Appellant’s contentions imply that as time elapses, workers are free to lie on employment applications regarding their physical condition. Yet, despite Appellant’s contention otherwise, no matter how much time has elapsed, his failure to disclose his medical history rises to the level of knowing and willful because his medical history demonstrates he repeatedly failed to disclose prior back issues, treatment for his back, and prior workers’ compensation claims. Not only did Appellant fail to report the prior workers’ compensation claim with Richtex, he did not even list Richtex as a prior employer on his employment application for Michelin. (**R. 504-06**).

The Full Commission’s determination that Appellant knowingly and willfully made false representations is consistent with *Fredrick v. Wellman, Inc.*, 385 S.C. 8, 682 S.E.2d 516 (Ct. App. 2009), wherein this Court affirmed a determination of the Full Commission that a claimant was not entitled to benefits because she concealed her history of back problems when seeking employment with the respondent employer. Here, like *Fredrick*, the record as a whole supported the Full Commission finding that Appellant knew he was concealing the truth from the employers when he completed the questionnaires. The Michelin Questionnaire asked, “Do you have problems with, or have you ever had medical attention for any of the following: . . . 13. Back injury, backache or pain . . . 21. Have you experienced a medical problem that affected your ability to perform your work . . .”, to which Appellant responded “NO” to both questions. (**R. 420-21, 830**). *See id.* at 21, 682 S.E.2d at 522 (noting that the fact that the claimant “responded ‘NO’ to

the question ‘HAVE YOU HAD BACK TROUBLE OF ANY KIND?’” supported finding the claimant knowingly and willfully made a false representation as to her physical condition).

Further, Appellant noted on the Michelin Questionnaire that he took medication for high blood pressure; however, like in *Fredrick*, this was not sufficient to place Michelin on notice as to the prior back issues. *See id.* (“[N]one of the past injuries or illnesses that she, in fact, listed on the form could have reasonably alerted a prospective employer to any impact on her spine.”). Finally, here, as in *Fredrick*, there was no credible evidence in the record indicating Appellant had significant memory problems when he completed the questionnaires or that otherwise explained the appearance of deception on Appellant's part. *Id.*

B. The preponderance of the evidence supports finding Michelin relied upon Appellant’s false statements and the reliance was a substantial factor in the hiring.

Appellant’s contentions in this regard completely miss the mark on whether Michelin satisfied this element of the *Cooper* factors. Several Michelin employees testified regarding the company’s reliance on an employee’s accuracy and truthfulness in completing the Michelin Questionnaire and how that reliance impacted the hiring of Appellant.⁵

Appellant’s trainer, Jermaine Lemon, was a long-time employee of Michelin. **(R. 657).**

Lemon confirmed Michelin relied on the Michelin Questionnaire answers and that it was important

⁵ Appellant’s references to and implications regarding the Americans with Disability Act (the ADA) are unwarranted and, more importantly, unpreserved as Appellant never even mentioned the ADA to the Single Commissioner or Full Commission. *See State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (finding the argument advanced on appeal was not raised and ruled on below and therefore was not preserved for review); *Bazen v. Badger R. Bazen Co.*, 388 S.C. 58, 65, 693 S.E.2d 436, 440 (Ct. App. 2010) (noting only issues raised to and ruled upon by the Full Commission are cognizable on appeal). Moreover, even if the contentions were preserved, they are inappropriate and untrue. *See* Michelin’s Diversity and Inclusion Report, <https://jobs.michelinman.com> (discussing Michelin’s policy regarding individuals with disabilities, stating “Michelin recognizes the value of—and works to fully leverage—the unique talents and skills of individuals of all abilities. Michelin is currently developing a Business Resource Group for employees to support people of all abilities”).

to provide truthful responses because Michelin needed to know whether the employee could perform the job duties to prevent other employees from getting injured. (R. 665-69). Lemon explained that he wanted to know if a co-worker such as Appellant was physically capable of performing the job because if they were not, he could get injured as well. (R. 666-67).

Safety manager, Mark Gross, had been employed with Michelin for thirty-seven years. (R. 765). Gross described the safety training provided to all new employees and outlined the Michelin Questionnaire. (R. 766-67, 774-75). He also confirmed Michelin relied on the employees to be truthful in completing the questionnaire for the safety of all employees. (R. 775, 786). Further, he explained it was not possible for Michelin's plant doctors to conduct thorough investigations and examinations if an employee lies during the application process. (R. 787, 790-91, 796-97). Gross explained that if he had known about Appellant's prior issues, he would have been concerned. (R. 775-76).

Nurse Sirois,⁶ explained Michelin provides high-paying jobs and if an applicant wanted a job at Michelin bad enough, they could provide false information and still pass the initial physical medical examination. (R. 753-58). Thus, because Appellant did not admit he had prior back issues and a prior workers' compensation claim on the questionnaire, Michelin and its doctors were not able to investigate the extent of the prior injury and determine a position for Appellant that would not subject him to further deterioration and would prevent injuries to him and his co-workers. (R. 775). *See Fredrick*, 385 S.C. 8, 682 S.E.2d 516 (finding the reliance prong in *Cooper* was satisfied

⁶ Any alleged error of by the Single Commissioner in allegedly qualifying Nurse Sirois as an expert is not preserved for review as the issue was not presented to the Full Commission. *See Bazen*, 388 S.C. at 65, 693 S.E.2d at 440 (noting only issues raised to and ruled upon by the Full Commission are cognizable on appeal). Notwithstanding, even if the argument was preserved, whether the Single Commissioner admitted the nurse as an expert does not change the fact that substantial evidence supported finding Michelin relied upon Appellant's fraudulent answers on the Michelin Questionnaire as multiple members of management testified regarding the reliance.

where a staff nurse for the employer testified that if the claimant had revealed her history of treatment for lower back problems, the employer would not have cleared the employer to work the particular job without further investigation); *Jones v. Georgia-Pac. Corp.*, 355 S.C. 413, 418-19, 586 S.E.2d 111, 114 (2003) (holding the reliance prong in *Cooper* was satisfied where the employer presented evidence showing that had the employer known of the claimant's prior issues, the employer would have attempted to find a job for the claimant that would not subject a pre-existing physical impairment to further deterioration).

C. The preponderance of the evidence supports finding a causal connection existed between Appellant's injuries.

As an initial matter, Appellant's reliance upon *McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co.*, 280 S.C. 466, 313 S.E.2d 38 (Ct. App. 1983) is misplaced. The instant case is distinguishable from *McLeod* because in *McLeod* the claimant injured his back *three years after* he began working for the employer. During those three years of employment, the claimant in *McLeod* had been lifting between sixty to 160 sixty-pound boxes, five days a week, eight hours a day without complaints of back problems and always met his production quota. *Id.* at 470, 313 S.E.2d 40. By contrast, Appellant allegedly injured his back within weeks of beginning his job with Respondent Michelin. He was "on disability" after he left Westinghouse and shortly before he started at Michelin. Moreover, Lowman testified that Appellant never successfully completed validation at Michelin, meaning Appellant never demonstrated the ability to safely perform the job alone, with good quality, and while developing speed. (R. 697-98). Other Michelin employees also testified that the area where Appellant worked was strenuous work and Appellant, in fact, had difficulty performing the job. (R. 659-663). Michelin employees explained that Appellant, who was told by a doctor that he could not perform heavy lifting, could not perform Appellant's job at Michelin. (R. 666-67). Thus, just as Dr. Norris explained Appellant could not perform the job at Richtex

because of his back issues, Appellant could not perform the job at Michelin because of his back issues. **(R. 158-59)**. If anything, Appellant's back condition worsened over the years as he aged. *See Havird v. Columbia YMCA*, 308 S.C. 397, 400, 418 S.E.2d 329, 331 (Ct. App. 1992) (noting that continuing to work in pain and fatigue "often worsens [a person's] health").

This case is in line with *Givens*, 279 S.C. at 13, 301 S.E.2d at 546 and *Jones*, 355 S.C. at 418-19, 586 S.E.2d at 114, in which our Supreme Court held the record supported finding a causal connection between the claimant's injuries. In *Givens*, the claimant filed a workers' compensation claim for his back six months after he began with the company and had previously injured his back at a different employer. 279 S.C. at 13, 301 S.E.2d at 546. The Court noted, "Expert medical testimony clearly indicated that claimant's condition was one of disc degeneration reflecting the cumulative effect of successive injuries." *Id.* at 14, 301 S.E.2d at 547. Likewise, in *Jones*, the claimant failed to disclose prior back trouble, leg pain, and bursitis to the respondent employer and during her employment she repeatedly returned to her doctor complaining of back and leg pain. 355 S.C. at 415, 586 S.E.2d at 112. Our Supreme Court held "there is a causal connection between Claimant's injuries and the false representation as she had documented back problems prior to employment and claims that she injured her back while working for Respondent." 355 S.C. at 419, 586 S.E.2d at 114.

Here, substantial evidence indicated Appellant previously injured his back in a work accident, resulting in Appellant leaving the job. Because of that injury and his back issues the entire time he had the job, Appellant's treating physician warned him not to perform any heavy lifting until after he met with an orthopedic surgeon. The record includes evidence showing Appellant failed to disclose that prior injury, workers' compensation claim, employer where the injury occurred, or physician's opinion to Michelin during the application process and that

Michelin relied upon this information when hiring him. It is undisputed that Appellant's current alleged injury was causally related to the impairments to his back resulting from his prior back issues. Accordingly, the Full Commission did not err in applying the Fraud in the Application doctrine to bar Appellant's claim.

II. Substantial evidence supports the Full Commission finding that pursuant to Section 42-1-160 of the South Carolina Code Ann. (2015), Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof where there is no evidence Appellant suffered a compensable injury by accident arising out and in the course of his employment with Michelin on June 24, 2017.

As an initial matter, Appellant disputes the Full Commission's change in the finding from "separate" to "previous," but then concedes "the amendment to the Single Commissioner's finding is of no significance." (**App. Br. 13-14**). Because whether it was a "separate" incident or "previous" incident does not change the conclusion that Appellant did not suffer a compensable, work-related injury by accident on June 24, 2017, this Court need not decide whether the Full Commission erred in changing this language as there is no reversible error. *See Miles v. Miles*, 303 S.C. 33, 36, 397 S.E.2d 790, 792 (Ct. App. 1990) (recognizing an overriding rule that "whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter"); *Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 154, 160, 519 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1999) ("The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.").

Furthermore, nothing in the Full Commission's Order "confirms [Appellant] proved that he had injured his back while working at Michelin on June 24, 2017," as Appellant would have this Court find. (**App. Br. 14**). To the contrary, the Order, which is supported by substantial evidence, confirms Appellant had issues with his back long before June 24, 2017, and yet never reported those issues to Michelin. The Commission correctly found that pursuant to Section 42-

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